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I N THE UNI TED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DI STRI CT OF | OMA

I N RE:
Chapter 7
LOREN REI SEN

PATRI CI A REI SEN Bankruptcy No. 03-01999

N N N N N N

Debt or s.

ORDER RE MOTI ON FOR SANCTI ONS

On January 22, 2004, the above-captioned matter canme on
for hearing pursuant to assignment on a Mdtion for Sanctions
filed by Debtor. Debtor Patricia Reisen appeared in person
with Attorney Paul Fitzsimons. Diane Troester, head of the
cash office for Wal-Mart in Dubuque, |owa appeared for WAl -
Mart wi thout counsel. The Dubuque County Attorney’s Bad Check
Restitution Program did not appear at any tine during these
proceedi ngs. On January 20, 2004, however, Kristine Bradshaw,
Regi onal Manager for Anerican Corrective Counseling Services,
faxed a signed affidavit to the Court entitled “Statenment of
Facts”. Also present at the hearing, though not a party, was
Dubuque County Attorney Fred McCaw. This is a core proceeding
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(0O.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Loren and Patricia Reisen filed their Chapter 7 petition
for bankruptcy May 21, 2003. Wal-Mart is |listed as a creditor
in the schedules. The anpunt of the debt is listed as
$111.71. It is generally acknow edged that this debt arose
because of an insufficient funds check witten by Debtor
Patricia Reisen to Wal-Mart in Dubuque, |lowa on March 24,
2003. Postpetition, Wal-Mart turned the check over to the
Dubuque County Attorney’ s Bad Check Restitution Program which
sent a demand |letter to Debtor on August 14, 2003. After
receiving this letter, Debtor filed a Mdtion for Sanctions
asserting that Wal-Mart and the Dubuque County Attorney’ s Bad
Check Restitution Programviolated 11 U S.C. 8§ 362.

El NDI NGS OF FACT

The record in this case is unorthodox. The matter was
initially schedul ed for hearing in Dubuque in Decenber 2003.
It was reset to provide notice of the pendency of this action
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to the Dubuque County Attorney’s O fice, which is peripherally
involved in these allegations. The original Mtion for
Sanctions was served on the Dubuque, |owa Wal -Mart Store and

t he Dubuque County Attorney’ s Bad Check Restitution Program
(“Restitution Progranmi’). No responsive pleadings were filed
prior to the present hearing.

Debtor Patricia Reisen was present at the hearing. The
Dubuque County Attorney, Fred McCaw, attended the hearing and
expl ained the Restitution Program s operations. Anmerican
Corrective Counseling Services, Inc. (ACCS) serves as the
Restitution Program s manager. ACCS did not appear at the
hearing, but filed an affidavit from Kristine Bradshaw, ACCS
Regi onal Manager. The Dubuque County Attorney’ s Bad Check
Restitution Program which conmuni cated with Debtor, is part
of a nationw de programrun by the Anerican Corrective
Counseling Services. Any sanctions inposed for the Dubuque
County Attorney’s Bad Check Restitution Progranis actions are
the | egal responsibility of American Corrective Counseling
Services. Wal-Mart’s counsel did not attend the hearing, but
Ms. Di ane Troester, head of the | ocal Wal-Mart’s cash office,
was present.

The factual record is not in serious dispute. Debtor
Patricia Reisen wote an insufficient funds check to the
Dubuque, lowa WAl -Mart Store in the ampunt of $111.71 on March
24, 2003. In May 2003, Wal-Mart sent a letter to Debtor
i ndicating that Wal -Mart was holding the insufficient funds
check. This contact was pre-petition and appropriate. Debtor
did not take any corrective action.

Debtors filed a joint Chapter 7 petition on May 21, 2003.
Val - Mart received notice of the pendency of the bankruptcy.
Ms. Troester testified that she handl es all bankruptcy matters
and that Wal-Mart’s policy is to termnate all contact with
t he Debtor upon notification of bankruptcy. M. Troester
showed the Court a register of bankruptcy filings and bad
checks witten to Wal -Mart. The system for dealing with both
is well-organized and clearly docunented.

Ms. Troester testified that she turned Debtor’s check
over to the County Attorney’'s Ofice and that she filed Wl -
Mart’s conplaint with the Restitution Program on August 13,
2003. wal-Mart took no further action against Debtor. Wal-
Mart’s reason for continuing to process Debtor’s insufficient
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funds check post-petition is the crucial fact in the case
agai nst Wal - Mart.

Ms. Troester testified that after Debtor filed this
Motion for Sanctions, she exam ned her records individually
and di scovered that she had i nadvertently stapled the notice
of Debtor’s bankruptcy underneath another individual’s
paperwork. The Court observed Ms. Troester’s testinony and
concl udes that her testinony was candid and truthful.

According to County Attorney MCaw, the County Attorney’s
Restitution Programis an independent contractor. |t attenpts
to collect on bad checks for the County, receiving a percent
of collections as conpensation. This is apparently a
nati onw de program The adm nistrator of the programis the
American Corrective Counseling Services Inc., headquartered in
San Clenente, California. The Restitution Program eval uated
Wal - Mart’ s conpl ai nt according to the County Attorney’s
eligibility requirements. The Restitution Program sent Debtor
a demand |l etter on August 14, 2003. It is this letter which
fornms the basis of Debtor’s notion against the Restitution
Program The ACCS affidavit states that the demand |letter was
part of the ordinary processing of an insufficient funds check
conplaint. At this point, the Restitution Program had no
notice of Debtor’s pendi ng bankruptcy.

Debtor Patricia Reisen tel ephoned the Restitution Program
on August 18, 2003, after receiving the August 14 denand
letter. According to the ACCS affidavit, Ms. Reisen stated
t hat she was going to contact her bankruptcy attorney.
Debtor’s attorney, M. Fitzsimons, wote a letter to the
Restitution Program advising them of the pendency of the
bankruptcy on August 18, 2003. M. Fitzsimmons received a
witten response fromthe Dubuque County Attorney’'s Office on
Sept enber 25, 2003.

Debt or received her discharge order on Septenber 4, 2003.
The underlying debt to Wal-Mart was |isted on Debtor’s
bankruptcy schedules. Wal-Mart did not chall enge di scharge of
this debt. The Certificate of Mailing the discharge order was
dat ed Septenmber 6, 2003. M. Fitzsimons sent a second letter
to the Dubuque County Attorney’s Ofice on Septenber 26, 2003,
expl aining the automatic stay and the all eged viol ations.
After Debtor’s Mtion for Sanctions was filed on Septenber 30,
2003, a Restitution Programrepresentative spoke to Ms.
Troester from Wal-Mart. According to the ACCS affidavit, only
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then did the Restitution Program|earn of Debtor’s pending
bankruptcy despite the two previous contacts from M.
Fi t zsi nmons.

After receiving M. Fitzsimon' s August 18 letter, notice
of Debtor’s Motion for Sanctions, and speaking to Ms.
Troester, the Restitution Program sent out four additional
notices. The first is captioned “Official Notice” and dated
Cct ober 13, 2003. Although the letter was addressed to
Patricia Reisen, the Restitution Programmiled the letter to
M. Fitzsimmon’s office address. This notice states that
there is a cash bal ance due of $271.71. It also warns Debtor
that failure to contact the Restitution Program could result
in crimnal prosecution.

On Novenber 24, 2003, the Restitution Program sent Debtor
a second notice at M. Fitzsimmon's address. This one is
entitled “Warni ng” and threatened Debtor with “potenti al
arrest and prosecution” if she did not contact the Restitution
Program i medi at el y.

The Restitution Program sent a “Final Notice” to Debtor,
agai n through her attorney, on Decenber 9, 2003. It states
the foll ow ng:

Due to your failure to conplete the requirenents of the
County Attorney’s Bad Check Restitution Program as
specified in previous notices, we are now initiating
steps toward formal prosecution proceedi ngs agai nst you.
Crim nal charges for Theft by a Wrthless Check are being
prepared for review by an Assistant County Attorney.

I f you desire to halt this action, or if you believe
there has been an error, contact this office at
(888)613-6398 within 24 hours upon receipt of this
notice.

The final contact fromthe Restitution Program dated
January 8, 2004 and again addressed to Patricia Reisen at her

attorney’s address, is captioned “Inportant Notice.” This
notice asks Ms. Reisen to contact the Restitution Program
i medi ately “regarding a bad check crinme report on file.” Al

four notices are signed by Ms. MIler, Case Coordinator for
the Restitution Program
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CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

Section 362 inposes the automatic stay when the debtor
files a bankruptcy petition. 11 U S.C. §8 362; In re Knaus,
889 F.2d 773, 774 (8th Cir. 1989); In re Goodfellow 298 B.R
358, 361 (Bankr. N.D. lowa 2003). The stay is extrenely
broad, and prevents any attenpt to collect pre-petition debts.
11 U.S.C. 8§ 362; Knaus, 889 F.2d at 774; &oodfellow 298 B.R
at 361. Debtor nust denpbnstrate by a preponderance of the
evi dence that Defendants violated the automatic stay. See,
e.g., In re Estep, 173 B.R 126, 129 (Bankr. N.D. Ohio 1994)
(citing G ogan v. Garner, 498 U.S. 279, 286 (1991)); In re
Bandy, No. 03-00753, 2003 W. 21781995, at *2 (Bankr. N.D. |lowa
July 29, 2003). Defendants have the burden of proof regarding
any defenses, including the applicability of any 8 362(b)
exceptions to the stay. In re Westnman, 300 B.R 338, 342
(Bankr. D. M nn. 2003).

The automatic stay was i nposed when Debtor filed for
Chapter 7 relief on May 21, 2003. Wal-Mart admts to sending
Debtor’s insufficient funds check to the Restitution Program
on August 13, 2003. This violated the automatic stay, unless
a 8 362(b) exception applies to Wal-Mart’s actions.

Exceptions to the Automatic Stay
Section 362(b)(1) excepts the comrencenent of crimna

proceedi ngs fromthe automatic stay. 11 U S.C. 8§ 362(b)(1).
I n general, exceptions to the automatic stay are interpreted

narromy. See, e.qd., In re National Cattle Congress, lnc.,
179 B.R. 588, 595 (Bankr. N.D. lowa 1995) (“[T]lhe & 362(b)
exceptions are intended to be read narrowy.”); In re

Cl aussen, 118 B.R 1009, 1017 (Bankr. D. S.D. 1990). Although
this Court has not addressed the issue, other courts have and
are split as to whether (b)(1) excepts all crimna
prosecutions, regardless of the creditor’s nmotive for filing
its crimnal conplaint, or only those crimnal prosecutions
that a creditor initiates for a purpose other than the

coll ection of a pre-petition debt.

One line of cases excepts all crimnal prosecutions
agai nst the debtor regardl ess of the purpose in filing. See
In re Bibbs, 282 B.R 876, 880 (Bankr. E.D. Ark. 2002) (“[T]he
automatic stay does not apply to crimnal prosecutions.
Period. . . . Onits face, it does not provide any exception
for prosecutorial purposes or bad faith.”); In re Hartung, 258
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B.R 210, 214 (Bankr. D. Mont. 2000) (finding automatic stay
does not prevent creditor fromreporting a crinme as every
citizen has a duty to report crimnal activity). Under this
view, Wal-Mart’s action would not violate the stay.

The alternative line of cases follows the “principal
notivation” test. Courts applying this test scrutinize the

mai n pur pose behind the crimnal prosecution. |f the main
pur pose is debt collection, not the greater public good, then
the crimnal prosecution violates the stay. See, e.qg., lIn re

DeLay, 48 B.R 282, 286 (Bankr. WD. M. 1984) (“Maintenance
of a crimnal prosecution against a debtor violates letter and
spirit of bankruptcy laws only if its principal purpose is to
coll ect a dischargeable debt.”); In re Butler, 74 B.R 106
(Bankr. WD. M. 1985); In re Wagner, 18 B.R 339 (Bankr. WD.
Mb. 1982).

Under this test, the central issue for the court to
determine is whether the creditor’s actions were “designed to

collect a claimfromthe debtor.” DelLay, 48 B.R at 286
(enmphasis in original). Courts resolve this question on a
case-by-case, fact sensitive basis. It is the conclusion of

this Court that the principal notivation test provides the
nost bal anced approach to acconodati ng the prosecutori al
functions as well as protecting the rights of debtors. This
test will be applied here.

Section 362(b)(4) excepts proceedi ngs by a governnent al

unit to enforce its police of regulatory power. 11 U S.C.
8 362(b)(4). In order for the (b)(4) exception to apply,
(1) the party initiating the action nust be a governnmental
unit; and (2) the proceedings nmust be for a police or

regul atory purpose. 11 U S.C. 8 362(b)(4); See In re
Commonwealth Cos., 913 F.2d 518, 521-22 (8th Cir. 1990);
Il1linois v. Elec. Utilities, 41 B.R 874 (Bankr. N.D. I1l1.
1984). Under 11 U.S.C. § 101(27), a “governnmental unit”

i ncludes a “departnent, agency, or instrunmentality of the

United States . . . a State, a Commonwealth, a District, a
Territory, a municipality, or a foreign state.” 11 U. S. C
§ 101(27).

Case | aw anal yzi ng what constitutes an “instrunmentality”
has concentrated on state bar, |abor |aw enforcenent, rent
regul ati on, m ni rum wage, and environmental violations
proceedi ngs. 1 Collier Bankruptcy Manual 8 362.05[4][a][l]
(Lawrence P. King, ed., Matthew Bender 3d ed. 2003). 1In
determ ni ng whether these entities are “instrunentalities”
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under 8§ 101(27), nost courts have focused on (1) the degree of
control the governnmental unit exercises over the
instrumentality; and (2) whether the instrumentality’s
functions are normally associated with the governnent. See,
e.g., In re Wade, 948 F.2d 1122 (9th Cir. 1991) (finding the
State Bar of Arizona is an “instrunmentality” based upon the
degree of control the Arizona Suprene Court exercises over the
Bar); Inre WIllianms, 158 B.R 488 (Bankr. D. |Idaho 1993)
(finding the Idaho State Bar an “instrunentality” based upon
both the I daho Suprenme Court’s control over the Bar and the
Bar’ s performance of governnental functions).

The Restitution Program under this analysis, is not an
instrunentality of the Dubuque County Attorney. The
Restitution Programis a collection agency associated with the
Dubuque County Attorney’s O fice as an i ndependent contractor.
It was not created by the Dubugue County Attorney’'s O fice.

Cf. Wade, 948 F.3d at 1124 (enphasizing that Arizona State Bar
exi sts due to Arizona Suprene Court rule authorizing it to
regul ate lawers in Arizona). |If an insufficient funds check
conplaint nmeets the criteria specified by the County
Attorney’'s Office, then the conplaint is referred to the
Restitution Program The County Attorney has no further
control over the Restitution Program s actions unless the
Restitution Program s attenpts at debt collection fail. Cf.
id. (“Although the State Bar plays a part in the enforcenment
of the rules, its role is conpletely defined by the court; the
[ State Bar] acts as the agent of the court under its

conti nuous supervision.”).

The Restitution Programexists to facilitate the paynent
of bad checks. It operates under typical debt collection
rules. Wiile the State certainly has an interest in ensuring
t hat checks are paid, the Restitution Program s function is
nore simlar to private debt collection than a typical
government function. Cf. WIlianms, 158 B.R 490 (State Bar
regul ates and di sciplines |awers, “functions normally
associated with the governnent.”).

Sanctions for Violation of the Automatic Stay

Section 362(h) sets forth the remedy for a wllful
violation of the automatic stay:

(h) An individual injured by any willful violation
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of a stay provided by this section shall recover actual
damages, including costs and attorneys’ fees, and, in
appropriate circunstances, nmay recover punitive damages.

To recover the danmages set forth in 8 362(h), the
violation nust be “wllful.” 11 U S.C. § 362(h). There is a
“Wwllful” violation of the automatic stay when “the creditor
acts deliberately with know edge of the bankruptcy petition.”
Knaus, 889 F.2d at 775; In re Dencklau, 158 B.R 796, 799
(Bankr. N.D. lowa 1993).

I n determ ning actual damages, the “court has discretion
to fashion the punishnent to fit the circunstances.” |n re
Joens, No. 03-02077, 2003 W 22839822, at *3 (Bankr. N. D. |owa
Nov. 21, 2003); In re Adanms, No. 01-9226, 2002 WL 844350, at
*4 (Bankr. N.D. lowa Apr. 19, 2002) (“[Il]t is the concl usion
of this Court that a mechanical application of these
[automatic stay] rules is inappropriate. The rules nust be
considered in the context of the case.”). Costs and
attorneys’ fees are available, but only if there is also
sufficient evidence for a finding of actual danmages. Joens,
2003 WL 22839822, at *3. The court may award punitive damages
under 8§ 362(h) only where the action taken is “egregious,
intentional m sconduct on the violator’s part.” 1n re
Ket el son, 880 F.2d 990, 993 (8th Cir. 1989); Dencklau, 158
B.R at 801.

Ms. Troester testified that she turned over the
i nsufficient funds check due to an inadvertent filing error.
She stated that Wal-Mart’s policy is to termnate all actions
to collect insufficient funds checks against those who file
for bankruptcy. Wal-Mart’s actions do technically violate the
automatic stay. Wal-Mart had notice of Debtor’s bankruptcy
and deliberately sent the insufficient funds check to the
Restitution Program Ms. Troester’s testinony established,

however, that Wal-Mart’'s action was due to a sinple filing
error. The violation was technical. Courts have been
unwilling to inpose sanctions if the violation is technical or

harm ess. Adanms, 2002 WL 844350, at *3; In re Oxford Dev.,
115 B.R 216, 218 (Bankr. WD. M. 1990) (denying sanctions
for technical violation of automatic stay).

The Restitution Programis initial demand letter, dated
August 14, 2003, was not willful. The Restitution Program was
not a listed creditor, thus it received no initial notice of
Debt or’ s bankruptcy petition. WAal-Mart did not notify the

8
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Restitution Program of Debtor’s bankruptcy due to the filing
error.

SUMVARY

Debtors filed their Chapter 7 petition on May 21, 2003
and their discharge order was entered on Septenber 4, 2003.
Debt or have brought this notion against Wal-Mart and the
American Corrective Counseling Services for violations of the
automati c stay under 8 362. For the reasons set out herein,
the Court finds that the only act done by Wal-Mart during the
pendency of the automatic stay was to send the insufficient
check to the Restitution Program However, for the reasons
set forth in this opinion, the Court determ nes that this was
an accidental violation and technical in nature. The Court
concludes that Wal-Mart committed no willful act during the
pendency of the automatic stay sufficient to inpose sanctions.
Wal - Mart had no contact with Debtor after the entry of
di scharge on Septenber 4, 2003.

This Court also concludes that, although the Restitution
Program sent a demand |letter to Debtor on August 14, 2003, the
same was not willful because the Restitution Program had never
received notification of Debtors’ pending bankruptcy. After
the Restitution Program was notified by Debtor and her counsel
of the pendency of the bankruptcy and the automatic stay, no
further contact was nmade by the Restitution Program during the
period when the automatic stay remained in effect until the
entry of the discharge on Septenber 4, 2003. Therefore, it is
al so the conclusion of the Court that the Restitution program
did not commt any act during the pendency of the automatic
stay which would warrant the inposition of sanctions.

DI SCHARGE | NJUNCTI ON

Ordinarily, the foregoing would conplete the analysis and
Debtor’s Motion for Sanctions woul d be denied. However, the
Court must comment about certain additional facts which
prevent this case from being conpletely resolved. The
di scharge was entered on Septenber 4, 2003 at which point the
di scharge i njunction under 8 524 replaces the automatic stay
under 8§ 362. The Court previously stated that the Restitution
Program had no contacts after August 14, 2003 w th Debtor
until the entry of the discharge on Septenber 4, 2003.
Althouth this is correct, it does not address the period of
time after the Septenber 4, 2003 discharge until the time of

9
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the hearing in this case in January, 2004. It is beyond

di spute that, no later than August 18, 2003, the Restitution
Program was i nfornmed of the pendency of the Debtor’s
bankruptcy case. Though no additional contacts were nmade by
the Restitution Programprior to the entry of the discharge,
the record anply establishes the Program sent four letters to
Debtor through her attorney’'s office entitled “Offici al
Notice”, “Warning Notice”, “Final Notice”, and “lnportance
Notice”. The Court will not go into great detail about these
letters at this juncture, however, as it is sufficient to
state that they are strongly worded and prom se the inposition
of substantial sanctions including crimnal charges unless
certain conduct occurs. The |last contact was nade as recently
as January 8, 2004, only two weeks prior to hearing in this
matter and long after the filing of the Mtion for Sanctions
under 8§ 362.

Debtor filed the pending Mdtion for Sanctions under § 362
while the automatic stay was still in effect. Debtor did not
anmend or allege a violation of 8 524(a) during these
proceedi ngs. VWhile there is certain appeal to the Court
addressing the inpact of these facts under 8 524, the Court
concludes that it is inappropriate to address their
application wi thout an appropriate notion by Debtor.

Therefore, the Court concludes that no relief is warranted
under the original notion (8 362). However, relief my exist
under the unpled § 524(a). The Court determ nes that it
shoul d all ow counsel for Debtor a reasonable period of tine to
eval uate the circunstances to determ ne whether to elect to
amend the notion for sanctions to a request for relief under

§ 524(a).

WHEREFORE, for all the reasons set forth herein, the
Court concludes that any violation of the automatic stay by
Wal - Mart was technical in nature and inadvertent. No relief
shoul d be granted in favor of Debtor against Wal-Mart for any
conduct occurring during the inposition of the automatic stay.

FURTHER, the Court concludes, for all the reasons set
forth in this opinion, that American Corrective Counseling
Services made contact with Debtor during the automatic stay
under 8§ 362. However, any contacts made during the tinme of
the inmposition of the automatic stay were inadvertent and were
done without any notice of the pendency of Debtor’s bankruptcy
case. As such, the inposition of sanctions is inappropriate
agai nst Anerican Corrective Counseling Services under 8§ 362.

10
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FURTHER, the Court concludes that counsel for Debtor
shoul d be allowed until March 22, 2004 within which to anmend
and seek relief against American Corrective Counseling
Services asserting a violation of the post-discharge
i njunction under § 524.

FURTHER, if Debtor elects to make such an anendnent, the
Court will schedul e additional hearings as necessary to
address these all egations.

FURTHER, if Debtor does not elect to file such an
amendnent, the Court will thereafter enter a final judgnent
consistent with this opinion.

SO ORDERED this 4th day of March, 2004.

/My//é%

PAUL J. KI LBURG
Chi ef Bankruptcy Judge
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